

# DETERMINANT OF FINANCIAL WELLBEING AMONG EMPLOYEES IN IKEJA LOCAL GOVERNMENT IN LAGOS STATE NIGERIA

**OGUNLEYE KEMISOLA CHRISTIANAH** 

**FEM 2020 12** 



# DETERMINANT OF FINANCIAL WELLBEING AMONG EMPLOYEES IN IKEJA LOCAL GOVERNMENT IN LAGOS STATE NIGERIA



Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

### COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia infulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

# DETERMINANT OF FINANCIAL WELLBEING AMONG EMPLOYEES IN IKEJA LOCAL GOVERNMENT IN LAGOS STATE NIGERIA

By

#### OGUNLEYE KEMISOLA CHRISTIANAH

### November 2019

Chairman : Associate Professor Mohamad Fazli bin Sabri, PhD

Faculty : Human Ecology

With the recent advancement in the financial economy, it has become more necessary for employees to be more knowledgeable and adept in handling their finances. Financial markets terrain has changed so much resulting in the availability of a wider choice of financial products and services, thus making financial decisions more complex and demanding. The ease of accessibility to inventive loans and credit services, financial market restructuring and technological advancements in the mode of offering and distributing financial services have indisputably left several individuals with a puzzling assortment of savings opportunities and decisions that need to be made. Therefore, this study was conceptualized to examine the factors that determine the financial well-being of employees in Ikeja local government area in Lagos state Nigeria. The researcher employed a simple random sampling in selecting the number of employees and 392 questionnaires were distributed to achieve a good responses rate. As such, eighty (78) questionnaires were distributed to each of four department while the fifth department was given 80 questionnaires in other to balance with the accurate numbers of 392 of the five departments selected. The collected data were analyzed using descriptive statistic which includes Pearson's correlation test, independent sample t-test, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and multiple regression on Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS). Data normality was also performed to compare the sample distribution shape and the normal curve shape. The relationship between financial literacy, financial management, and financial strain towards financial well-being was determined using Pearson's coefficient correlation analysis. Results showed that there was a significant relationship between financial well-being, financial management and financial strain except for financial literacy which was not statistically significant. Analysis of Variance ANOVA and sample t-test were conducted to determine the difference in financial well-being based on demographic characteristic of the respondents. The results also revealed that there were significant differences in demographics variables of the employee's financial well-being as all the mean difference is significant were at the < 0.05 level.

Multiple regression analysis was used in identifying the predicting factors influencing the financial well-being of the respondents. Multiple regression results showed that the overall model is significant. Each of the variables (financial literacy, financial management and financial strain) is significant predictors of financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.

In conclusion, based on the findings of the study, only few employees in Ikeja local government area of Nigeria had high level of financial well-being while the rest had moderate and low level. This calls for further study on how financial literacy and financial management could be strengthened while reducing financial strain faced by the employees since they are part of predicting variables of financial well-being among the respondents.



Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Master Sains

# FAKTOR PENENTU YANG MEMPENGARUHI KESEJAHTERAAN KEWANGAN DALAM KALANGAN PEKERJA KERAJAAN TEMPATAN IKEJA DI LAGOS, NIGERIA

Oleh

#### OGUNLEYE KEMISOLA CHRISTIANAH

November 2019

Pengerusi : Profesor Madya Mohamad Fazli bin Sabri, PhD

Fakulti : Ekologi Manusia

Dengan kemajuan dalam ekonomi kewangan pada ketika ini, adalah penting bagi pekerja yang bekerja untuk menjadi lebih berpengetahuan dan mahir dalam mengendalikan kewangan mereka. Pasaran kewangan yang telah berubah menyebabkan ketersediaan produk kewangan dan perkhidmatan kewangan lebih luas membuatkan pembuatan keputusan mengenai kewangan lebih kompleks dan menuntut. Kemudahan dan kebolehcapaian terhadap pinjaman, perkhidmatan kredit, penyusunan semula pasaran kewangan dan kemajuan teknologi dengan cara menawar dan mengagihkan perkhidmatan kewangan telah menyebabkan beberapa individu berhadapan dengan kecelaruan apabila pelbagai peluang dan keputusan yang perlu dibuat. Oleh itu, kajian ini dikonseptualisasikan untuk mengkaji faktor-faktor penentu kesejahteraan kewangan dalam kalangan pekerja yang berkerja di kerajaan tempatan Ikeja, di Nigeria, Lagos. Penyelidik menggunakan kaedah persampelan rawak berstrata dalam memilih bilangan pekerja dan sebanyak 392 borang soal selidik telah diedarkan untuk mencapai kadar tindak balas yang baik. Disebabkan itu, tujuh puluh lapan (78) soal selidik telah diedarkan kepada setiap empat jabatan manakala jabatan kelima diberikan lapan puluh (80) soal selidik. Data yang dikumpulkan dianalisis dengan menggunakan statistik deskriptif yang merangkumi ujian korelasi Pearson, sampel bebas ujian –t, analisis varians (ANOVA), dan regresi berganda menggunakan Perisaian Statistik untuk Sains Sosial (SPSS). Normaliti data juga dilakukan untuk membandingkan bentuk taburan sampel dan bentuk lengkungan normal. Hubungan di antara literasi kewangan, pengurusan kewangan dan tekengan kewangan terhadap kesejahteraan kewangan ditentukan menggunakan ujian korelasi koefisien Pearson. Keputusan menunjukkan terdapper Hubungan yang signifikan antara kesejahteraan kewangan, pengurusan kewangan dan kekengan kewangan kecuali literasi kewangan yang tidak signifikan. Analisis Varians ANOVA dan ujian-t dilakukan untuk menentukan perbezaan kesejahteraan kewangan berdasarkan ciri-ciri demografi responden. Keputusan turut menunjukkan bahawa terdapat perbezaan yang signifikan dalam pembolehubah demografi dengan kesejahteraan kewangan pekerja yang berkerja dengan kesemua perbezaan min adalah signifikan pada tahap <0.05.

Analisis regresi berganda pula digunakan dalam mengenal pasti faktor peramal yang mempengaruhi kesejahteraan kewangan responden. Keputusan regresi berganda menunjukkan bahawa keseluruhan model adalah signifikan. Setiap pembolehubah (literasi kewanga pengurusan kewangan dan kekengan kewangan) adalah peramal penting yang meramal kesejahteraan kewangan dalam kalangan pekerja yang bekerja di Ikeja, Lagos, Nigeria.

Kesimpulannya, berdasarkan penemuan kajian, hanya beberapa pekerja yang bekerja di kerajaan tempatan Ikeja, Lagos, Nigeria mempunyai tahap kesejahteraan kewangan yang tinggi selebihnya mempunyai tahap yang sederhana dan rendah. Ini bermakna literasi kewangan, pengurusan kewangan, dan tekanan kekengan perlu diperkukuhkan kerana faktor olehubah ini merupakan peramal kepada kesejahteraan kewangan dalam kalangan responden.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First and foremost, I give glory to Almighty God for the fulfillment and success of my study research, I want to adore Him more even in my going to school and coming back from school, this means a lot to me and I want to acknowledge the strength he gave me through this journey, the will and the zeal when I almost felt like giving up. He was the divine source of my strength and the success of the whole journey.

My utmost appreciation goes to my able supervisor Assoc. Prof Mohamad Fazli Bin Sabri Mohamad, who made it possible for me to come up with this thesis through his motivational spirit, his input, his corrections and his full support all through the study. Thank you so much for your patience throughout my period of study with you Sir I really do appreciate. I would not fail to acknowledge my co-supervisor: Dr Samsul Azahari Bin Badari. Thank you for your cooperation and understanding, I sincerely do appreciate Sir.

To my loving and caring husband Doc Roland Chima Onuoha who has always been there for me even before my study and till this moment, encouraging me at all times. Thank you for your financial, spiritual and academic support. And to my beloved children, Roland Favour, Roland Emmanuel and Roland Godwin, who were always good company when I needed some time off. Thanks for being my inspiration.

To my precious mother Princess Oluwaremikun I can never forget you even though you are no more with me but God knows it all. You are my advisor, my friend and my sister. You taught and trained me to be strong, to believe in myself and work hard, who always encouraged me never to give up, and that so much could be done with little. Thank you so much sweet Mother for I will never forget you, you are indeed a great woman. To my father Prince Olumuyiwa Joseph Ogunleye you have been a good father who cherish and love all his children I love you forever till we meet again.

To Dr Kolapo Shakiru I can't easily for your help and support you rendered to me from the beginning of the till end I appreciate you and you loving family God bless you more sir.

To all the people I met before and in the course of my research especially Thinagaran who helped me with my data analysis and much more, to Hillary for your relentless support in the course of this research, I say thank you and appreciate all the help.

Finally, I wish to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all the strangers who were helpful and nice to me in one way or another. One thing is for sure, what goes around, comes around, Good or bad. So for this I really do appreciate and pray that strangers will be nice to you too.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

# Mohamad Fazli bin Sabri, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

# Shamsul Azahari bin Zainal Badari, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Human Ecology
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

# ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

#### **Declaration by graduate student**

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software

Signature:	Date:

Name and Matric No.: Ogunleye Kemisola-Christianah, GS45094

# **Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee**

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) were adhered to.

Signature:		
Name of Chairman		
of Supervisory		
Committee:	Associate Professor	
	Dr. Mohamad Fazli bin Sabri	
	1 1111111111111111111111111111111111111	
Signature:		
Name of Member		
of Supervisory		
Committee:	Dr. Shamsul Azahari bin Zainal Badari	

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
ABST ACK APPH DEC	NOWL ROVAI LARAT	LEDGEMENTS	i iii v vi viii viii
СНА	PTER		
1	INTR	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Background of the Study	1
	1.2	Problem statement	3 8
	1.3	Research Questions	
	1.4	Objective of the Study	8
	1.5	Hypothesis	9
	1.6	Significant of the Study	9
	1.7	Scope and Limitations of Study	10
	1.8	Definition of Terms	11
2	LITE	CRATURE REVIEW	12
	2.1	Financial Well-being	12
	2.2	Factors Affecting Financial Well-being	14
		2.2.1 Financial Literacy	14
		2.2.2 Financial Literacy and Financial Well-being of the	
		Employees	15
		2.2.3 Financial Management	16
		2.2.4 Financial Management and Financial Well-being of the	
		Employees.	17
		2.2.5 Financial strain	19
		2.2.6 Financial Strain and Financial Well-being of the	
		Employees	20
		2.2.7 The Effect of Demographic Variables on Financial	
		Well-being	21
	2.3	Gender	21
		2.3.1 Age	22
		2.3.2 Income	23
	2.4	Theoretical Frame Work	24
		2.4.1 Family Resource Management Theory (Deacon and	
		Firebaugh 1988)	24
		2.4.2 Subjective Well-Being Theory	25
	2.5	Conceptual Framework	26
	26	Summary	30

3	METI	HODOLOGY	31
	3.1	Research Design	31
	3.2	Location of the study	31
	3.3	Population of the study	32
	3.4	Sample Size	32
	3.5	Sampling Techniques	33
	3.6	Sources of Data	33
	3.7	Instrumentation	33
		3.7.1 Demographic Information	34
		3.7.2 Financial Well-being	34
		3.7.3 Financial Management	34
		3.7.4 Financial Literacy	35
		3.7.5 Financial Strain	35
	3.8	Procedure for Data Collection	36
	3.9	Pilot Test/Reliability	36
	3.10	Validity	37
		3.10.1 Content Validity	37
	3.11	Data Analysis	38
		3.11.1 Exploratory Data Analysis	39
		3.11.2 Data Normality	39
	3.12	Summary	40
4		LTS AND DISCUSSION	41
	4.1	Introduction	41
	4.2	Profile of Respondents	41
		4.2.1 Financial Well-Being	44
		4.2.2 Financial Management	47
		4.2.3 Financial Literacy	50
	4.0	4.2.4 Financial Strain	53
	4.3	Hypothesis Testing	55
		4.3.1 Determine the differences in financial well-being	
		among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria based on	<i>5 5</i>
		demographic variables  4.3.2 Determine the Relationship between Independent	55
		4.3.2 Determine the Relationship between Independent Variables and the Dependent Variable.	58
		4.3.3 To determine the predicting factors influencing	50
		financial well-being of employees in Ikeja local	
		government Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.	60
	4.4	Conclusion	62
	7.7	Conclusion	02
5	CONO	CLUSION, IMPLICATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
			63
	5.1	Research Summary	63
	5.2	Conclusion	64
	5.3	Implications of Study	67
	5.4	Recommendation for Future Research	68

REFERENCES	69
APPENDICES	88
BIODATA OF STUDENT	91
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	92



# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	Trend showing the population of Nigeria within the working age group	5
3.1	Financial Well-Being measurement adapted from Prawitz et al. (2006)	34
3.2	Financial Management Adapted from (Perry & Morris, 2005)	35
3.3	Financial Literacy measurement adapted from Sabri, Masud, and Paim (2006)	35
3.4	Financial Strain measurement adapted from Aldana and Liljenquist (1998)	36
3.5	Cronbach's Alpha Value of the Instruments (n=40)	37
3.6	Result of normality test	39
3.7	Summary of Hypotheses Test	40
4.1	Profile of Respondents (N=392)	42
4.2	Respondent's social-economic profile	44
4.3	Financial Well-Being	45
4.4	Financial well-being mean score	46
4.5	Scoring level of Financial Well-Being (n=392)	47
4.6	Financial Management	48
4.7	Level of financial Management	49
4.8	Scoring levels of Financial management (n=392)	50
4.9	Financial Literacy	51
4.10	Financial Literacy mean score	52
4.11	Scoring Levels of Financial literacy	53
4.12	Financial Strain	53
4.13	Financial strain mean score	54

4.14	Financial Strain Scoring Level	55
4.15	T-Test Results of Financial Well-Being of employees on gender	56
4.16	ANOVA test of financial well-being of employees based on age groups	57
4.17	ANOVA test of financial well-being of employees on income	58
4.18	Pearson correlation matrix (n=392)	59
4.19	Multi-Regression Results of Determinants of Employees Financial well-being	60
4.20	Summary of Hypotheses Test and Result	62

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### INTRODUCTION

# 1.1 Background of the Study

With the recent innovation in financial markets, it has now become ever more unavoidable for the employees to be more knowledgeable and proficient in managing their finances. Financial markets terrain has changed so much resulting in the disposal to a wider choice of financial products and services. The result of this is that financial decisions are becoming increasingly complex and demanding. Availability of easy innovative loans and credit products, financial market restructuring and technological advancements in the mode of offering and distributing financial and services have indisputably left many people confused while making decisions on the assortment of savings opportunities (Mahdzan & Tabiani, 2013).

Financial well-being is one of the key challenges for employees. It has become major concerns among researchers, who coined the term financial well-being being for use in financial studies. Foregoing, in the 1990s, some scholars made efforts towards defining interrelated constructs such as financial well-being, financial satisfaction and economic well-being. The researchers found that these terms may likely to be used in place of one another. According to Idris et al., (2017) the term financial wellness can be employed to illustrate the concept which encircles financial satisfaction, status of financial situation, financial perception, as well as behaviors which cannot be determined through one measure. Several researchers have made efforts towards developing conceptual model for determining financial well-being (Hayhoe & Wilhelm, 1998; Joo & Garman, 1998; Porter & Garman, 1993). A study conducted by Joo (1998) noted that determining factors to predict financial well-being is complicated in nature. A determining factor which comprises objective and subjective status of financial condition, behavioural assessment of personal finance, and contentment with personal financial situation cannot be determined through a single measure.

In the early 20th century, trading volume was minimal and financial decisions were not complex. However, the birth of the Industrial Revolution led to an increase in the volume and assortment of goods. With this, the size and diversity of the world's trade were gradually increasing. The development of communications network helped to facilitate sales and spending was rapidly increasing. The above conditions increased the complexity of financial well-being and making financial decisions more difficult in the last few decades (National Institute of Financial Education of America, 2010).

Consequently, financial literacy is relevant in order to attain the goals which lead to the path of financial well-being (Lusardi, & Mitchell 2017; Huston, 2012). Financial literacy is the ability to understand and analyze financial options in order to make future plans and respond appropriately to situations. The ability to influence the

conditions of one's life and work is very essential in anticipating the future. Sadly, Low financial literacy on average is exacerbated by patterns of vulnerability among specific population subgroups. For instance, as reported in Lusardi and Mitchell (2014). It is expected that once employees become financially literate, their financial well-being improves (CFPB, 2015). However, raising the level of financial literacy and competency increases proficiency in financial decision-making, hence, promoting adequate planning and management of oneself Lusardi, & Mitchell (2014). As employees with higher financial literacy make better decisions and enjoy higher financial security and well-being (Grohmann et al., 2014)

Researchers also identified financial management as the primary foundation of an individual's financial well-being. Having the right Knowledge and skills on management of resources is important towards attaining financial well-being. For instant, investment knowledge, skills and planning may help employees expand their sources of income thereby becoming financially secure CFPB (2015). Efficient measures for management and finances follow a laid out institutional procedures that help make adequate usage of resources and enable transparency in managing finances. Additionally, the procedures on financial management must aid working employees in anticipating their financial standing and eventually make useful decisions at the appropriate time. Furthermore, efficient procedures enable individuals to generate income from effective financial management of available assets (Brüggen et al.2017).

Linton et al., (2016) stated that financial strain is a response to the condition of working employees' financial status. Financial strain may persist in working employees at all level of income. Frequently, financial strain consists of a heaping of stressor events occurring whereby, before one event can be laid to rest, another is arising (Brüggen et al., 2017). The incidence of stressor events otherwise referred to as negative financial event which contributes to financial strain. This may among others include getting notice of overdue from creditors and agents, issuance of checks with insufficient funds in account, lateness in payment of bills, the employee's money are squabbles, and upset on whether one is capable of meeting up situation where there is a dire need for money or in the event of retirement. Garman et al. (2004) in their description of financial strain stated that it is a strong physical or mental strain often consisting of distresses over financial matters. Financial strain also affects financial tasks such as retirement planning. It is obvious that financial strain affects or leads to lower financial well-being of the employees.

There is a serious alarm on increased cost of living among Nigerians in the present and because of that, employees are now more conscious about their finances Egbu(2018) Currently, changes in the economy have impacted on people's habit in spending, saving, investment and management of their finances in order to ensure optimum standard of living Agarwalla et al (2012). A survey carried out by Credit Awareness Nigeria in collaboration with the Central Bank of Nigeria (2013) indicated that majority of the employees in Nigeria are less equipped with the knowledge and awareness about their personal financial responsibility. They further, stated that about 30% of Nigerians have no savings and they live beyond their means. Adeoti (2010)

stated that those who are seeking for financial advice from the credit counselling are more of older people who felt that if they have the ability to manage their personal finances in early life; it would have encouraged them to aspire to greater goals like saving early and saving often. Consequently, Debt Management Office (2012) indicated that there are high rate of bankruptcy cases due to hire purchase loans and personal loans. Indeed, bankruptcy has been shown to worsen financial problems whereby some of the financial hardship may be due to personal, physical and emotional situations which may impact the productivity in a working environment.

Therefore, further study seeks to obtain up to date information on financial awareness, which have employed to bring about growth in level of financial education and to avoid experiencing or accumulating another debt in near future. Lusardi and Tufano (2009) observed that poor financial behaviors are usually followed by personal financial problems and the major culprit in individual financial problems is the financial illiteracy experienced by employees in Nigeria. The inclusion of financial constraints including a high rate of debt, reduced income, and near level financial literacy may impact on employee's financial well-being (Lusardi & Tufano, 2009). However, income uncertainty can have a more severe effect on well-being. Due to high cost of living, people are usually more focused on their financial betterment and more conscious with their spending habit to guarantee their future comfortability (Lusardi & Tufano, 2009). The issue of financial problems is witnessed in all aspects of life of the employees and this challenge is not limited to the lower or middle-income employees but also among those that are at higher level.

This study was conceptualized to study the relationship between financial well-being and financial literacy, financial management and financial strain among the employees in Nigeria. To understand the importance of financial literacy, financial management and financial strain in designing a more effective financial education program to improve the employee's financial well-being and also to help Nigerian employees enjoy high standard level of financial well-being.

## 1.2 Problem statement

Financial matter is one of the key reasons why many Nigerian employees cannot enjoy their marital life, leading to lots of broken marriages and spousal abuse (Igbo, 2005; Dabu, 2011). Not having effective financial strategies might have led some working employees to have problems on mismanagement of money and having insufficient funds to meet their personal needs. Ibrahim (2015) observed that most employees of nowadays are not satisfied with their life because of the issues affecting their financial well-being. Defining well-being is a challenging task, yet experts and common people around the world would agree that it is the evaluation of both the objective and subjective components of life. Objective well-being is fundamental in assessing people's living conditions and quality of life, while subjective components reflect on an individuals' experience in life situations and the cognitive judgment of their own lives, which includes their financial well-being (OECD, 2011). Life satisfaction is the cognitive component of subjective well-being and involves a self-evaluation of the

quality of one's life (Antaramian. 2017) or in what manners people evaluates their life as a whole (OECD, 2011). The cause of employees having insufficient funds to meet their personal needs and falling to bankruptcy is due to their lack of exposure to financial management and their desire for lavish lifestyle. This can be supported by Faizal and Ashhari (2015). Not having effective financial strategies might have led some employees to have problems on mismanagement of money and having insufficient funds to meet their personal needs. Zaimah et al., (2013) observed that most employees struggle to survive and also not satisfied with their life because of the issues affecting their financial well-being.

According to Nigerian Bureau Statistics (2016) observed that employees age population between the age brackets of 15 and 64 years in Nigeria is about 108.59 million. As of 2016, the working population (i.e. those within the working age willing, able and actively looking for work) is 81.15 million. Consequently, majority of the employees that work and were in support group at (52.8%), while those in professional and management are (11.6%) and (3.5%) respectively. The statistics show that, since most of the employees are supporting group, their income range is from the lowest to middle group. Nigerian Bureau Statistics (2016) have also shown that youths in labor force had an average monthly income of 30,000 to 40,000 naira.

This will have an effect on their financial well-being since their income is in the middle-income group. The amount of money they earn monthly may not be sufficient for other financial activities such as saving, investment and unforeseen circumstances. These activities are very vital, as they are practices that can influence the financial well-being of the employees. Data from 2010 to 2019 show some interesting trend in the ageing population in Nigeria (refer to Table 1), (National Population Commission, 2019). However, there is a decrease in the ageing population, more employees, especially in the public sectors, will have to plan their retirement by managing their finances properly and not merely depend on their monthly pension. According to Mutran, Reitzes and Fernandez (1997) a pension scheme gives a positive effect on retirement. Allocation for savings should start early for public employees as they have longer period before retirement.

Hassana (2008) stated that majority of pension schemes in the public sector had been under-funded due to inadequacies in budgetary allocations. Research conducted by Kunle and Iyefu (2004) and Taiwo (2006) observed that the organization of the pension scheme was weak, inefficient, and lacks transparency. If employees are not financially stable during their working life, they might face several problems after retirement, as income from pension scheme does not ensure better financial well-being of the employees.

Table 1.1: Trend showing the population of Nigeria within the working age group

Age	2010	2019
Less than 15 years' old	44.0%	42.0%
15-64 years old	53.2%	55.2%
Above 64 years old	2.7%	1.8%

(Sources: National Population Commission 2019)

Employees should manage their finance well to avoid any problem or going bankrupt. In fact, a report from Debt Management Office (2012) indicated that about average 45-70 individual go bankrupt daily. The highest percentage of bankruptcy is within the age group is 40.8% which is in the age group of 38-50-year-old and about 80% of them have no retirement plans. Apart from that, the statistic from Debt Management Office (2013) revealed that individuals between the age of 40 to 55 years and above reported the highest number of bankruptcies due to personal loans. This is seen as unfavorable financial management strategy particularly when making plans for extended period of time. As mentioned earlier, majority of the employees in public sectors are the supporting employees. The highest percentage of bankruptcy among public sectors is supporting employees at (52.44%) (Debt Management Office, 2012). This is a very serious issue as these supporting employees are in the middle-income group. It is obvious that high living standards in urban neighborhoods, increase price of basic amenities and financial dependents of employees, requires working individuals to make proper financial planning in order to ensure a better financial wellbeing.

Consequently, several studies revealed that financial management has been recognized as one of the factors of employee's financial well-being which is also being influenced by financial literacy (Garman & Forgue, 2006; Joo, 2008 & Shim, 2009). In a situation whereby employees fail to plan, implement and evaluate allocation of their current flow income to meet up with their goals, the result is a reduction in the level of financial well-being. Given the high rate of financial debt among the employees (Lachance et al., 2006; Joo, Grable & Bagwell, 2003) it is evident that these can lead to high financial pressure and discontentment (Roberts & Jones, 2001).

To enable an understanding of the behavior and quality of life, indicators such as financial management should receive significant attention. Due to the complexity and diversity of current financial scheme, the Central Bank of Nigeria in (2009) started a programmer designed to reposition the Nigerian financial sector to ensure it has visible influence on the country's growth and development by enlightening the consumers' on the importance of financial literacy. In respect of that, a study was also conducted by Adeoti (2010) which reviewed and analyzed the impact of financial literacy on Nigeria consumers' behaviour, attitude and knowledge. The research indicated that there is low financial literacy among Nigerian consumers due lack of an adequate financial background and also not be able to understand the navigate today's complex market. Thus, giving a thought on financial effects on employees, the effect of

financial literacy does not influence the financial problem of the employees alone but in general also leads to greater level of financial stress (Taylor, 2009; Lenton & Mosely, 2008).

Financial literacy and financial knowledge are both human capital but different constructs. Financial knowledge is an integral dimension of, but not equivalent to, financial literacy. Financial literacy has an additional dimension which is that an individual must have the ability and confidence to use his/her financial knowledge to make financial decisions that will bring financial success. When developing an instrument to measure financial literacy, it would be important to determine not only if a person knows the information but also if he/she can apply it appropriately, Huston, (2010).

Employees with limited financial literacy find it hard to make plans for their retirement, receive lower asset, these lead to lower financial well-being. Several studies on financial literacy found that employees are being confronted with intricate financial decision in the world's fast-paced financial settings (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2011; Rooij et al., 2011; Arrondel, et al., 2013; Klapper & Panos, 2011). Majority of the employees fail to realize the importance of financial literacy due to lack of knowledge on their finances particularly on issues of retirement savings, investment, credit card and debt Anthony and Sabri (2015). Most nations of the world are struggling for economic prosperity and because of this it is difficult for employees who don't have budget knowledge to accomplish financial security Mohamed, N. A. (2017). Thus, the inability to make plan as a result of low level of financial literacy accounts for the low financial well-being among the employees (Lusardi & Mitchell 2007).

Conversely, the feeling of unhappiness among employees and their personal finances are also related to work outcomes which have been linked with features of employee's in the aspect of an employee's financial well-being, job characteristics and workplace. Employees who are not satisfied with their personal finance report conflicts between money and work. This can damage the workplace morale as well as having negative effect on their productivity (Prawitz et al. (2013) The pressure to settle debts, for instance, can amplify stress and anxiety and decrease well-being, particularly if the employee has a large debt to pay. Financial strain experienced by employees cannot be neglected as evidence suggested that life experience at a young age may be a vital contributing factor to financial well-being. Although, employees that faced with financial stress earlier in life are bound to feel frustrated with anxiety, affecting their productivity and leading to poor performance. Overall, this affects their well-being in their life (Szanton et al., 2010). Due to the rate of bankruptcies occurring among the employees, a study on social and psychological impact of financial strains toward employees should be undertaken.

Large percentage of individuals in developing countries are unemployed while others barely get a job to satisfy their demand, thus vastly under employed (Islam, Rasul and Ullah, 2012). The Nigerian Bureau of Statistics (2016) stated that the population of

employees between the age brackets of 15 and 64 years in Nigeria is about 108.59 million. As of 2016, the working population (i.e. those within the working age willing, able and actively looking for work) is 81.15 million. Consequently, majority of the employees that work and were in support group at (52.8%), while those in professional and management are (11.6%) and (3.5%) respectively. The statistics show that, since most of the employees are supporting group, their income range is from the lowest to middle group. Nigerian Bureau Statistics (2016) have also shown that youths in labour force had an average monthly income of 30,000 to 40,000 naira (83-100 USD/MONTH). Being grossly underpaid, financial decisions will obvious influence the well-being of these vast under paid working population. Financial well-being of individuals have been researched on right from the university and college students up till later stages in life such as when they are working (Delafrooz & Paim, 2011). A study conducted by Lyons (2003) found that the financial knowledge and behaviour which college and university students acquire at an early age as well as the financial independence they attain could affect their lives in different ways, especially their financial well-being and their relationships with their friends and family (Shim, Xiao, Barber, & Lyons, 2009).

Most previous studies on financial well-being have been conducted among family or employees living in Western countries (Joo, 2008; Malone et al. 2010). There is a dearth of research on financial well-being of employees in sub-Saharan Africa especially Nigeria as the most populous nation in Africa (Ogunleye, 2019). Thus, this study intended to impact future research that targets the assessment of financial wellbeing in Nigeria. To date, no definitive measure of financial well-being has been advanced, Shim, Xiao, Barber, and Lyons (2009) used both objective (amount of debt) and subjective (financial satisfaction and coping with financial strain) measures in assessing economic well-being of individuals. Therefore, little is known about the factors that determine their financial well-being among employees in Ikeja LGA which has one of the highest working population in Nigeria, since it has been reported that most employees have low level of financial well-being, and often suffer financial distress. This study focuses on studying the factors that determine the financial wellbeing of employees in Ikeja LGA of Nigeria as such studies are scarce. Findings of this study will help provide insight on factors that determine the financial well-being of employees in Nigeria, thereby enhancing a higher level of financial well-being among them. The findings also have implications for other employees in other sub-Saharan region of Africa, because it is important for everyone to have a high level of financial well-being.

## 1.3 Research Questions

From the aforementioned discussion, there is a dearth of knowledge regarding the financial well-being of the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria. The research questions for the current study are as follows:

- 1. What are the level of respondents on financial literacy, financial management, financial strain and financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria?
- 2. Are there any differences between financial well-being and selected demographic variables such as (gender, age, & income) among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria?
- 3. What is the relationship between financial literacy, financial management, financial strain and financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria?
- 4. What are the predicting factors influencing financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria?

# 1.4 Objective of the Study

The aim of this study is to measure the determinant of financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria. The specific objectives are as follows:

- 1. To measure the level of respondents on financial literacy, financial management, financial strain and financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.
- 2. To determine the difference between financial well-being based on demographic variables (gender, age, and income) among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.
- 3. To determine the relationship between financial literacy, financial management, financial strain and financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.
- 4. To determine the predicting factors influencing financial well-being among employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.

# 1.5 Hypothesis

Based on the research questions raised, the following hypotheses were tested in this study.

- Ha1: There is a significant difference in financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria based on gender.
- Ha2: There is a significant difference in financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria based on age.
- Ha3: There is a significant difference in financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria based on income
- Ha4: There is a significant relationship between financial literacy and financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.
- Ha5: There is a significant relationship between financial strain and financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.
- Ha6: There is a significant relationship between financial management and financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.
- Ha7: Financial literacy, financial management and financial strain are significant determinants of financial well-being among the employees in Ikeja Lagos state Nigeria.

## 1.6 Significant of the Study

Findings from the current research would be beneficiary to several parties such as workers, related agency, employees in Nigeria themselves, financial advisors and researcher, as it will help them understand the dynamics which influence the financial well-being of the employees. Information obtained will be useful and help to provide more insight, when related to issues involved financial matters and how to improve their financial situation in general. With regards to employees, this study is relevant to consumers, in general, to bring about improvement in their financial well-being. It is evident that such improvement will impact lasting beneficial efficacy in the life of employees such as reducing welfare dependency, reduce levels of debt, increase savings and generally improve their skills and knowledge. Through encouragement, they will be more concerned about the state of their financial well-being. This can help prevent consumers from stress, feeling socially excluded and poverty. The study can also be beneficial to employees as it encourages them to build assets by accessing savings opportunities. Savings and assets can bring new income, aid in long term planning while offering protection against sudden loss of wealth. However, working employees can have a chance to improve their financial well-being through a better understanding of their behaviour related to their personal finances acquired from this study and can gain knowledge on how to amend their lapses. Thus, findings from this study can help them to determine what factors can be altered to their situation and make the most of it to ensure better financial well-being.

This study aims to attract the interests of financial advisors. Financial advisors are seen as being better positioned to equip new employees with retirement plan information. Aside that, current financial information and programs tailored to the need of a specific group should be undertaken to encourage some employees to save. Such information may be beneficial to the employees who are at a particular career stage and age. Giving an essential financial information and counselling is believed to assist employees in considering the value of retirement contribution with regards to other needs and saving motives. Financial advice and counselling on interest rates on credit cards, educational loan and other debt would be beneficial to the new employees to consider the importance of debt settlement and make contribution to retirement plans. Furthermore, savings aids employees by offering valuable protection against financial blows.

For the researchers, the enhancement of financial well-being among employees necessitates the researchers to provide an efficient framework aimed at promoting such an agenda. Due to the dearth of studies on financial well-being in Nigeria, further study by researchers on this issue is expected to enable them find the cause of financial stains. This will enable them give recommendations based on the findings. Such recommendations can be employed by policymakers and institutions to assist the people to become financially healthy.

## 1.7 Scope and Limitations of Study

Attention should be called to the limitations of this study. First, this study is limited to Lagos state and its local governments. Thus, generalization of the findings would only apply to the Ikeja local governments in Lagos states.

Secondly, the data for the study will be gathered, employing a self-administered questionnaire, in which the reliability and validity of the information obtained depend only upon the ethics of the respondents in replying the questionnaire. The respondents are encouraged to answer the questions accordingly, with the help of the researcher to know the respondent's opinion. However, information gathered from the data depends on the willingness of the respondents to respond correctly.

#### 1.8 Definition of Terms

## a) Financial well-being

**Conceptual:** Financial well-being denotes a condition of being financially healthy, happy and having no worries (Joo, 2008).

**Operational**: In this study, financial well-being refers to the ability of employees to have financial security.

# b) Financial literacy

**Conceptual:** Financial literacy denotes to the ability to use knowledge and skills to manage financial resources efficiently (Raymond, 2010).

**Operational:** In this study, financial literacy is the ability of the employees to make use of the knowledge for effective decision on their financial resources.

# c) Financial management

**Conceptual**: Financial management is more of ensuring the availability of fund when needed and been used in the most effective and efficient way (Hogarth & Anguelov, 2004).

**Operational:** In this study, financial management is all about how employees plans and controls their financial to accomplish their objectives.

#### d) Financial strain

**Conceptual**: Financial strain is all about one's responses to financial condition or worry about financial issues. (Prawitz et al., 2006).

**Operational:** In this study, financial strain can be seen as an inability of one not meeting up with his or her financial obligations.

#### REFERENCES

- Abdel-Khalek, A. M. (2010). Quality of life, subjective well-being, and religiosity in Muslim college students. *Quality of Life Research*, 19(8), 1133-1143.
- Abdel-Khalek, A. M. (2012). Subjective well-being and religiosity: A cross-sectional study with adolescents, young and middle-age adults. *Mental Health, Religion & Culture*, 15(1), 39-52.
- Adeoti, A., & Adeoti, J. (2010). Hiv/aids and farms' production efficiency in Benue state Nigeria. *African Journal of Biomedical Research*, 11(2), 145-153. doi:10.4314/ajbr.v11i2.50699
- Ahad, N. A., Yin, T. S., Othman, A. R., & Yaacob, C. R. (2011). Sensitivity of normality tests to non-normal data. *Sains Malaysiana*, 40(6), 637-641.
- Aldana, S. G., & Liljenquist, W. (1998). Validity And Reliability Of A Financial Strain Survey. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 9(2), 11–19.
- Ali, A. M., & Yusof, H. (2012). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalization. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25–64.
- Al-Tamimi, H. (2006), "Factors influencing individual investor behavior: an empirical study of the UAE financial markets", *The Business Review*, 5(2), 225-32.
- Antaramian, S. (2017). Assessing psychological symptoms andwell-being: Application of a dual-factor mental healthmodel to understand college student performance. Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment, 33, 419–429. doi:10.1177/073428914557727
- Arber, S., Fenn, K., & Meadows, R. (2014). Subjective financial well-being, income and health inequalities in mid and later life in Britain. *Social Science & Medicine*, 100, 12-20.
- Archuleta, K. L., Britt, S. L., Tonn, T. J., & Grable, J. E. (2011). Financial satisfaction and financial stressors in marital satisfaction. *Psychological Reports*, 108(2), 563-576.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., & Razavieh, A. (1996). Introduction to research in education. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace College Publishers.
- Baek, E., & DeVaney, S. A. (2004). Assessing the baby boomers' financial wellness using financial ratios and a subjective measure. *Family and Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 32(4), 421-448.

- Bahaman Abu Samah., & Turiman Suandi. (1999). Statistics for Social Researchwith Computer Application. (1st Ed). Malaysia: UPM Publisher.
- Baum, A. (1990). Stress, intrusive imagery, and chronic distress. *Health Psychology*, *9*(6), 653-675. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.9.6.653
- Beckmann, E., and H. Stix. 2013. Foreign currency loans and knowledge of exchange rate risk. *OeNB Working Paper forthcoming. Oesterreichische Nationalbank, Vienna, Austria.*
- Beebe, L. H. (2007). What can we learn from pilot studies? *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 43(4), 213–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6163.2007.00136.x
- Bierstaker, J. L., Brazel, J., Caster, P., & Reed, B. J. (2010). American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' (AICPA) Professional Ethics Executive Committee's (PEEC) Omnibus Proposal of Professional Ethics Division Interpretations and Rulings. *Current Issues in Auditing*, 4(1), C10-C11.
- Binder, M., & Coad, A. (2013). Life satisfaction and self-employment: a matching approach. *Small business economics*, 40(4), 1009-1033.
- Blanchflower, D.G., & Oswald, A.J. (2000). The rising well-being of the young. In Youth employment and joblessness in advanced countries, eds. D.G. Blanchflower and R. Freeman, Chicago: NBER and University of Chicago Press.
- Blank, R., Danziger, S., & Schoeni, R. (2006). Working and poor. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Boles, J.S., Howard, W.G., & Donofrio, H.H. (2001). An investigation into the inter-relationships of work-family conflict, family-work conflict and work satisfaction. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 13, 376-390.
- Bonke, J., & Browning, M. (2009). The allocation of expenditures within the household: A new survey. *Fiscal Studies*, *30* (3-4), 461-481.
- Borden, L. M., Lee, S.-A., Serido, J., & Collins, D. (2008). Changing College Students' Financial Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behavior through Seminar Participation. *Journal of Family Economy Issue*, 29, 23-40.
- Brennan, K. A., Clark, C. L., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult attachment: An integrative overview. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships (pp. 46-76)*. New York: *Guilford Press*.
- Brüggen, E. C., Hogreve, J., Holmlund, M., Kabadayi, S., & Löfgren, M. (2017). Financial well-being: A conceptualization and research agenda. *Journal of Business Research*, 79, 228-237.

- Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2007). Research Designs. In: Business Research Methods. New York. Oxford University Press. P. 44-73. & Neuman, W. L. (2003). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (5 ed.). Boston: Pearson Educaton, Inc.
- Bryman, A. (2004) Social research methods. 2nd Edition, *Oxford University Press, New York*, 592.
- Bryman, A. (2012), Social Research Methods, 4th edn, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Bucher-Koenen T, Lusardi A, Alessie R.J.M., & van Rooij, M.C.J. (2016). How financially literare are women? Overview and new insights. *Journal Consumer Affairs*, 51(2), 255-283. doi:10.1111/joca.12121.
- Butterworth, P., Rodgers, B., & Windsor, T. (2009). Financial hardship, socioeconomic position and depression: Results from the PATH Through Life Survey. *Social Science & Medicine*, 69(2), 229-237.
- Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. F. (2001). Optimism, pessimism, and self-regulation. In E. C. Chang (Ed.). *Optimism and pessimism: Implications for theory, research, and practice (pp. 31-52)*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Chou, K., Chi, I., & Chow, N. (2004). Sources of income and depression in elderly Hong Kong Chinese: mediating and moderating effects of social support and financial strain. *Aging & Mental Health*, 8(3), 212-221. Studies, 23(2), 242–254.doi:10.1007/s10826-012-9688-8.
- Churchill, G. A., & Iacobucci, D. (2005). Marketing Research: Methodological Foundations (9<sup>th</sup>ed.). Mason, Ohio: Thomson South-Western.
- Clark, A. E. and A. J. Oswald (1996). Satisfaction and comparison income. *Journal of public economics*, 61 (3), 359–381.
- Clark, A. E., P. Frijters, and M. A. Shields (2008). Relative income, happiness, and utility: An explanation for the easterlin paradox and other puzzles. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 46(1),95–144.
- Clark, A.E., Kristensen, N., and Westergård-Nielsen, N. (2009). "Economic Satisfaction and Income Rank in Small Neighbourhoods". *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 7, 519-527. Consumer Studies, 36, 566-572. Counseling and Planning, 17(1), 34-50. http://www.afcpe.org/publications/journal-articles.php
- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. *Hillsdale, New Jersey*:

- Conger, Anthony. (1974). A Revised Definition for Suppressor Variables: a Guide To Their Identification and Interpretation. *Educational and Psychological Measurement EDUC PSYCHOL MEAS*. 34. 35-46. 10.1177/001316447403400105.
- Conger, R., & Donnellan, M. (2007). An interactionist perspective on the socioeconomic context of human development. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 58, 175–199.
- Cote, M., & Nightingale, A. J. (2012). Resilience thinking meets social theory: situating social change in socio-ecological systems (SES) research. *Progress in human geography*, 36(4), 475-489.
- Cramer, C. 2003. "Does inequality cause conflict?" Journal o International Development, Vol. 15, No. 4, pp. 397–412
- Cramer, D. (2003). Advance quantitative data analysis. Bershire, *Open University Press*.
- Dabu, J. T. (2011). Impact of spousal abuse on marital adjustment of couples in North-West Senatorial.
- Deacon, R. E, & Firebaugh, F. M. (1975). Home management context and concepts. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.
- Deacon, R., & Firebaugh, F. (1981). Family Resource Management: Principles and Applications. Boston: Allyn & Bacon, Inc.
- Deacon, R., & Firebaugh, F. (1988). Family resource management: Principles and applications (2nd ed.). Boston: *Allyn and Bacon*.
- Delafrooz, N., Paim, L.H., & Khatibi, A. (2011). Understanding consumer's internet purchase intention in Malaysia. *Afr. J. Bus. Manag.*, 3(5), 2837-2846. Distress/Financial Well-Being Scale: Development, administration, and score interpretation. Financial
- DeMaio, T. (2006) Cognitive interview research report: Findings and recommendations resulting from pretesting the 2007 National Crime Victimization Survey's School Crime Supplement. Study Series (Survey methodology # 2006-08), Statistical Research Division, U.S. Census Bureau, Washington, D.C.
- DeVellis, R.F. (2011) Scale Development: Theory and Applications (Volume 26). *Sage Publications, Inc.*, Thousand Oaks.
- Diener, E.(2000a). Subjective well-being: The science of happiness and a proposal for a national index. *American Psychologist*, 55, 33-34.

- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1983). The satisfaction with life scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 49, 71–75*. Diener, E., Suh, E. M., & Oishi, S. (1997). Recent findings on subjective well-being. *Indian Journal of Clinical Psychology, 24, 25–41*.
- Diener, E., Lucas, R. E., & Oishi, S. (2018). Advances and open questions in the science of subjective well-being. *Collabra. Psychology*, 4(1).
- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., & Oishi, S. (1997). Recent findings on subjective well-being. *Indian Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 24, 25–41.
- Doody, O., & Doody, C. M. (2015). Conducting a pilot study: Case study of a novice researcher. *British Journal of Nursing*, 24(21), 1074-1078.
- Dowling, J.,o.,Festing,M.,& Engle, D.,(2009).Internation human resource management (5th ed.).*Mason*, *OH:Thomson Higher Education*.
- Easterlin, R.A. (2003). Explaining happiness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100, 11176-11183.
- Eckel, C. C., & Grossman, P. J. (2002). Sex differences and statistical stereotyping in attitudes toward financial risk. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 23, 281 295.
- Egbu, C. A. (2018). A Study of the Impact of Financial Literacy on Nigerian Public Sector Employees' Financial Outcome.
- Erdogan, B., Bauer, T. N., Truxillo, D. M., & Mansfield, L. R. (2012). Whistle while you work: A review of the life satisfaction literature. *Journal of management*, 38(4), 1038-1083.
- Fah, L.Y. and K.C. Hoon, 2009. Introduction to computer data analysis with SPSS 16.0 for windows. Selangor: *Venton Publishing*
- Family economic hardship and progression of poor mental health in middle-age
- Farrell, L., Fry, T. R., & Risse, L. (2016). The significance of financial self-efficacy in explaining women's personal finance behaviour. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, *54*, 85-99.
- Fazli, M. S. & Farhana, N. Z. (2015). The influences of financial literacy, money attitude, financial strain and financial capability on young empoyess' financial well-being. *Pertanika Journal Social Science and Humanities*, 23(4), 827-848.
- Ferrer-i-Carbonell, A. (2005). Income and well-being: an empirical analysis of the comparison income effect. *Journal of Public Economics* 89 (5), 997–1019.

- Ferrer-i-Carbonell, A., 2003. Quantitative analysis of well-being with economic applications. (PhD thesis) Amsterdam: *Thela Thesis Publishers*
- Fitzsimmons, V. S., Hira, T. K., Bauer, J. W., & Hafstrom, J. L. (1993). Financial management: Development of scales. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 14, 257-273.
- Folk, J. Y., Beh, L. S., & Baranovich, D.-L. (2012). Financial education: determinant of retirement planning in Malaysia. E3 *Journal of Business Management & Economics*, 3(2), 69-78.
- Fox, J. J., Bartholomae, S., & Lee, J. (2005). Building the case for financial education. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 39(1), 195-214. Jacobs, F. H. (1988). The five-tiered approach to evaluation: Context and implementation. In Heather B. Weiss & 87 Francine H. Jacobs (Eds.), Evaluating Family Programs (pp. 37 68). New York: *Aldine DeGruyter*.
- Fox, J., S. Bartholomae, and J. Lee. (2005) Building the case for financial education. Journal of Consumer Affairs, 39 (1): 195–214.
- Frey, B. S., & Stutzer, A. (2010). *Happiness and economics: How the economy and institutions affect human well-being*. Princeton University Press.
- Frigerio, R. F. & Parrichi, M. (2014). Financial Well-being in Active Ageing. Studies in Health Technology and Informatics, 203, 69-77.
- Garman, E, T. & Sorhaindo, B. (2005). Delphi study of experts' rankings of personal finance concepts important in development of the in charge financial distress: Financial well-being scale. *Consumer interests Annual* 51, 184-194
- Garman, E. T. (1996). Ripoffs and frauds (Revised ed.). Houston: *Dame Publications*.
- Garman, E. T., & Forgue, R. E. (2006). Personal finance. New York: *Houghton Mifflin Company*.
- Garman, E. T., Leech, I. E., & Grable, J. E. (1996). The negative impact of employee poor personal financial behaviors on employers. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 7, 157-168.
- Garman, E. T., Sorhaindo, B., Bailey, W., Kim, J., & Xiao, J. (2004). Financially distressed credit counseling.
- Garman, E. T., Sorhaindo, B., Kim, J., Xiao, J. J., Bailey, W., & Prawitz, A. (2006). The evolution of the Beta Version of the In Charge Financial Distress Scale. *Consumer Interests Annual*, 50, 134-144.
- Garman, E. T., Sorhaindo, B., Prawitz, O'Neill, B., A., Osteen, S., Kim, J.,

- Drentea, P., Haynes, G., & Weisman, R. (2005). Development of and norms for the InCharge Financial distress/financial well-being scale: A summary. Consumer Interests Annual, 51. Retrieved May 6th, 2005, from http://www.ethomasgarman.net/research/feni/FDS%20Summary%20ACCI%202005%20FINAL%20042905.pdf
- Garman, E.T., Macdicken, B., Hunt, H., Shatwell, P., Haynes, G., Hanson, K.C., Hanson, E., Olson, P., & Woehler, M.B. (2007). Progress in measuring changes in financial distress and financial well-being as a result of financial literacy programs. Consumer Interests Annual, 53. Retrieved from http://www.pfeef.org/research/fle/Progress-in-Measuring-Changes-in-Financial-Distress.doc
- Garman, S. Joo, I. E. Leech, & D. C. Bagwell (Eds.), Personal Finances and Worker Productivity, *Proceedings of the Personal Finance Employee Education Best Practices and Collaborations Conference, Roanoke, VA, 2(1), 163-174.*
- Gay, L.R. ve Airasian, P. (2000). Education Research. Competencies for Analysis and Application. Sixth Education.
- Gitman, C. J. (2012). Principles of Managerial Finance. New York: Prentice Hall
- Godwin, D.D.1994. Antecedents and consequences of newlyweds' cash flow management. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 5, 161-190.
- Gompers, P., Metrick, A., 2001. Institutional investors and equity prices. *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 116, 229–259.
- Grafova, I. (2011). Financial Strain and Smoking. *Journal Of Family And Economic Issues*, 32(2), 327-340. doi:10.1007/s10834-011-9247-2.
- Gutter, M., & Copur, Z. (2011). Financial behaviors and financial well-being of college students: Evidence from a national survey. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues, Online First.* doi: 10.1007/s10834-011-9255-2.
- Hair, Black, Babin B, Anderson and Tathan. (2006). Multivariate data analysis (sixth ed.) United State of America: *Pearson prentice hall*. Handbook of consumer finance research (pp. 21–33). *New York*:
- Hair, J. F., William C. B, Barry J. B. & Rolph, E. A. (2010). Multivariate data analysis: a global perspective. *Upper Saddle River, N.J.: Pearson*
- Hansen, T., Slagsvold, B., & Moum, T. (2008). Financial satisfaction in old age: A satisfaction paradox or a result of accumulated wealth? *Social Indicators Research*, 89(2), 323-347.
- Hanson, T. A., & Olson, P. M. (2018). Financial literacy and family communication patterns. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, 19, 64-71.

- Hassana A. K (2008): "Pension fund hits 4.4bn" Abuja, Daily Trust, http://allafrica.com/stories/20080240987.
- Hayhoe, C. R. & Wilhelm, M. S. (1998). Modeling perceived economic well-being in a family setting: A gender perspective. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 9 (1), 21-34.
- Heady, B. and Wooden, M. (2004), 'The effects of wealth and income on subjective well-being and ill-being', *The Economic Record*, 80, Special Issue, S24–S33.
- Helliwell, J. F. (2006), 'Well-being, social capital, and public policy: What's new?' *The Economic Journal*, 116, C34–C45.
- Helliwell, J.F. & R.D. Putnam (2004) 'The Social Context of Well-Being' Phil Trans R. Soc Lon. B 359: 1435-46. Reprinted in F.A. Huppert, B. Keverne & N. Baylis, eds., The Science of Well-Being. London: *Oxford University Press*, 2005, 435-59. http://dx.doi.org/10.5502/ijw.v1i1.9
- Hilgert, M. A., Hogarth, J. M., & Beverly S.G. (2003) Household financial management: The connection between knowledge and behavior. *Federal Reserve Bulletin*, 89 (7), 309-322.
- Hilton, J.M. & Devall, E.L. (1997). The family economic strain scale: Development and evaluation of the instrument with single- and two-parent families. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues.* 18(3), 247-269.
- Hogarth, JM, & Anguelov, CE 2004, "Are families who use e-banking better financial manager?", *Financial Counseling and Planning*, vol.1, no. 2, pp. 61-77.
- Hope, O. K., & Langli, J. C. (2008) "Auditor independence in private firm setting", working paper. *Rotman School of Management*, University of Toronto and Norwegian School of Management. husbands and wives. *Family relations*, 61(2), 297-312.
- Hussein A. Hassan Al-Tamimi, Al Anood Bin Kalli, (2009) "Financial literacy and investment decisions of UAE investors", *The Journal of Risk Finance*, *Vol. 10 Issue: 5*, pp.500-516, https://doi.org/10.1108/15265940911001402
- Huston, S. J. (2012) Financial literacy and the cost of borrowing. *International Journal of*
- Ibrahim, S. (2015). A binary model of broken home: parental death-divorce hypothesis of male juvenile delinquency in Nigeria and Ghana. *Contemporary perspectives in family research*, *9*, 311-340.

- Idris, F. H., Krishnan, K. S. D., & Azmi, N. (2017). Relationship between financial literacy and financial distress among youths in Malaysia-An empirical study. *Geografia-Malaysian Journal of Society and Space*, 9(4).
- Igbo, H. I. (2005). Role of communication in resolving marital conflicts in Benue State. PhD Thesis. Faculty of Education, Benue State University, Makurdi
- J. Kim, & E. T. Garman, Financial stress and absenteeism: An empirically derived model, *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 14 (2003), 31-42.
- Joo, H. (2008). Personal financial wellness. In J. J. Xiao (Ed.), Handbook of consumer finance research (pp. 21–33). *New York: Springer*
- Joo, S. & Garman, E. T. (1998). The potential effects of workplace financial education based on the relationship between personal financial wellness and worker job productivity. In E. T.
- Joo, S. (1998). Personal financial wellness and worker job productivity. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, Blacksburg.
- Joo, S. (2008). Personal financial wellness. In J.J. Xiao (Ed.), Handbook of consumer finance research (pp. 21-33). New York: Springer.
- Joo, S.H. and J.E. Grable, 2004. An Exploratory Framework of the Determinants of Financial Satisfaction. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 25(1): 25-50.
- Kim, H. (2011). Family processes and adolescents' financial behaviors. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 32, 668–679.doi:10.1007/s10834-011-9270-3.
- Kim, J., & Garman, E. T. (2003). Financial stress and absenteeism: An empirically derived model. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 14(1), 31-42.
- Kim, J., Garman, E. T., & Sorhaindo, B. (2003). Relationship among credit counseling clients' financial wellbeing, financial behaviors, financial stressor events, and health. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 14, 75-87.j,
- Kinyanjui, J., & Ocholla, D. (2017, September). Financial Literacy Competencies of Women Entrepreneurs in Kenya. In *European Conference on Information Literacy* (pp. 348-358). Springer, Cham.
- Klapper, L. & Panos, G. A. (2011). Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning: The Russian Case. *Policy Research Working Paper 5827*.
- Kline, B. (2010) Principles and practice of Structural equation modelry the Guilford press.

- Knight, L. G., & Knight, R. A. (2000). Counseling clients on credit. *Journal of Accountancy*, 2, 61–72. Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Layard R., Mayraz G. and Nickell S., (2010). "Does Relative Income Matter? Are the Critics Right?" in E. Diener, J. F. Helliwell, and D. Kahneman (ed.), International Differences in Well-Being, *Oxford University Press*.
- Layr, C. (2013). Strategic Finance and Firm Governance, Status-quo and Perspectives of Strategic Financial Management within the Framework of Corporate Governance, Evidence from *Swiss Stock-listed Companies*.
- Leach, M., Mearns, R. and Scoones, I. (1999) 'Environmental Entitlements: Dynamics and Institutions in.
- Lee. 2005. Building the Case for Financial Education. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 39 (Summer): 195–214.
- Lenton, P., & Mosley, P. (2008). Incentivising trust. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 32(5), 890–897.
- Li, G 2009, 'Information Sharing and Stock Market Participation: Evidence from Extended Families', Federal Reserve Board Working Paper
- Libby, T. and Lindsay, R.M. (2010), "Beyond budgeting or budgeting reconsidered? A survey of
- Loibl, C., & Hira, T. K. (2007). New insights to advising your female clients on investment decisions. *Journal of Financial Planning*, 20 (3), 68–75.
- Lown, J. M., & Ju, I-S. (1992). A model of credit use and financial satisfaction. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 3, 105-124.
- Lusardi, A, & Mitchell, O. S. (2008). Planning and financial literacy: How do women fare? NBER Working Papers Series, Vol. w13750. Retrieved September 8, 2010 from http://ssrn.com/abstract=1087003
- Lusardi, A, Mitchell, OS & Curto, V 2010, 'Financial Literacy Among the Young', Journal of Consumer Affairs vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 358–380.
- Lusardi, A. & Mitchell, O. S. (2009). How Ordinary Consumers Make
- Lusardi, A. & Mitchell, O.S. (2013). The economic importance of financial literacy: theory and evidence. Cambridge, MA: *National bureau of economic research*.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2014). The economic importance of financial literacy: Theory and evidence. *Journal of economic literature*, 52(1), 5-44.

- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2017). How ordinary consumers make complex economic decisions: Financial literacy and retirement readiness. *Quarterly Journal of Finance*, 7(03), 1750008.
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, S. O. (2008). How much do people know about economics and finance? financial illiteracy and the importance of financial education. Policy Brief, No.5, *University of Michigan Retirement Research Center*.
- Lusardi, A., & Tufano, P. (2009). Debt literacy, Financial experience and over indebtedness. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No.* 14808, Cambridge: *Mass*
- Lusardi, A., & Tufano, P. (2015). Debt literacy, financial experiences, and overindebtedness. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance*, 14(4), 332-368.
- Lusardi, A., and O. Mitchell, 2007, Financial literacy and retirement preparedness: Evidence and implications for financial education, *Business Economics*, 35-44.
- Lusardi, Annamaria & Olivia S. Mitchell. (2007b). "Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning: New Evidence from the Rand American Life Panel." *Pension Research Council Working Paper WP2007-3*.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, & Olivia S. Mitchell. (2011) "Financial Literacy and Planning: Implications for Retirement Wellbeing," In Financial Literacy: Implications for Retirement Security and the Financial Marketplace. Eds A Lusardi and O.S. Mitchell. Oxford: Oxford University Press forthcoming.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and Olivia S. Mitchell. (2007a), "Baby Boomer Retirement Security: The Role of Planning, Financial Literacy, and Housing Wealth," *Journal of Monetary Economics* 54, pp. 205-224.
- Lusardi, Annamaria, and S. Olivia Mitchell. (2007c). "Financial Literacy and Retirement Preparedness: Evidence and Implications for Financial Education," *Business Economics, January* 2007, pp. 35-44.
- Luttmer, E. F. (2005). Neighbors as negatives: Relative earnings and well-being. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics 120 (3), 963–1002*
- Lyon, T. D., Lamb, M., & Myers, J. E. B. (2009). Author's response to Vieth (2008): Legal and psychological support for the NICHD interviewing protocol. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *33*, 71-74.
- MacKerron, G. (2012). Happiness economics from 35 000 feet. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 26(4), 705-735.

- Mahdavi, M. (2012). Financial Literacy among Educated Women: Room for Improvement. Working Paper, *Smith College*.
- Mahdavi, M., & Horton, N. J. (2014). Financial knowledge among educated women: Room for improvement. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 48(2), 403–417. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12032
- Mahdzan, N.S., Tabiani, S. (2013), "The Impact of Financial Literacy on Individual Saving: an Exploratory Study in the Malaysian Context", Transformations in *Business & Economics*, Vol. 12, No 1 (28), pp.41-55
- Maloch, F., and Deacon, R. E. (1966), "Proposed Framework for Home Management", *Journal of Home Economics. pp.31-35*.
- Malone, K., Stewart, S.D., Wilson, J., & Korsching, P.F. (2010). Perceptions of financial well-being among American women in diverse families. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 31, 63-81. Management Association Conference, 71-81.
- Margaret, V, (2004), Financial Well-Being and the need for employer-sponsored financial literacyeducation as reported by employees of *Texas public research university*, Educational Human resource development.
- Mathuva, D. (2015). The Influence of working capital management components on corporate profitability.
- Mattsson, M., Topor, A., Cullberg, J., &Forsell, Y. (2008). Association between financial strain, social network and five-year recovery from first episode psychosis. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric*.
- McLeod, S.A. (2008). Qualitative, and Quantitative Simply Psychology Retrieved from http://www.simplypsychology.org/qualitative-quantitative.html
- McMahon, K, C., & Smith, P. S. (2001). Report of the 2000 National Survey of Science and Mathematics Education. Chapel Hill, NC
- Mende, M., & Van Doorn, J. (2015). Coproduction of transformative services as a pathway to improved consumer well-being: findings from a longitudinal study on financial counseling. *Journal of Service Research*, 18(3), 351-368
- Merz E.-M., Schulze H.-J., & Schuengel C. (2010). Consequences of filial support for two generations: A narrative and quantitative review. *Journal of Family Issues*, 31, 1530–1554.
- Milkie M. A., Bierman A., & Schieman S. (2008). How adult children influence older parents' mental health: Integrating stress-process and life-course perspectives. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, 71, 86.doi:10.1177/019027250807100109 [Google Scholar]

- Minhat, H. S. (2014). Why malay elderly female frequently engaged in religious activities during leisure?: A qualitative approach in Selangor. *Malaysian Journal of Public Health Medicine*, 14(1), 39–46.
- Miller, R. L., et al. (2014), CMIP5 historical simulations (1850–2012) with GISS ModelE2, J. Adv. Model. Earth Syst., 6, 441–478, doi:10.1002/2013MS000266.
- Mohamed, N. A. (2017). Financial socialization: A cornerstone for young employees' financial well-being. *Reports on Economics and Finance*, 3(1), 15-35.
- Moorthy, M & Tan, Annie & Choo, Caroline & Chang, Sue & Wei, Jonathan & Tan, Yong & Kah Ping, Tan & , Leong. (2012). A Study on Factors Affecting the Performance of SMEs in Malaysia.
- Mugenda, O., Hira, T., & Fanslow, A. (1990). Assessing the causal relationship among communication, money management practices, satisfaction with financial status, and satisfaction with quality of life. Lifestyles: *Family and Economic Issues*, 11 (4), 343–360.
- Muoghalu, C. B. (2006). Financial Management, Imperatives of Intermediation Function of Financial Institutions: *Empirical Evidence from Nigeria*.
- Mutran, E. J., Reitzes, D. C., & Fernandez, M. E. (1997). Factors that influence attitudes toward retirement. *Research on Aging*, 19, 251-273.
- Nam, Y., Lee, E. J., Huang, J., & Kim, J. (2013). Financial capability and asset ownership among low-income older Asian immigrants. Manuscript submitted for publication. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Working Paper 15350. September
- National Bureau of Statistics (NBS). (2016). The Nigeria Statistics Act Report. A Press Briefing by the NBS.
- National Council of La Raza (NCLA). 2002. Financial Literacy and Education: An Important Key to Unlocking the Door to Economic Opportunity for Latino Families. *Washington*, *DC*.
- National Population Commission (NPC), (2019). "Federal Republic of Nigeria, (2018). Population and Housing Census", Priority Table Volume IV, Population Distribution by Age and Sex. Abuja: *National Population Commission (NPC)*.
- Nigerian National Bureau of Statistics Unemployment and Under Employment, the labour force p REPORT Q4 2016.
- Noor, N. M. (2008). Malaysian women's state of well-being: empirical validation of a conceptual model. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *146*(1), 95-115.

- North- Hira, T. K., Fanslow, A. M. & Vogelsang, R. (1992). Determinants of satisfaction with preparation for financial emergencies. Financial Counseling and Planning, 3, 43-62. American budgeting practice", *Management Accounting Research, Vol. 21 No. 1, pp. 56-75.*
- Northern, J. J., O'Brien, W. H., & Goetz, P. W. (2010). The development, evaluation, and validation of a financial stress scale for undergraduate students. *Journal of College Student Development*, 51(1), 79-92. doi: 10.1353/csd.0.0108
- Norvilitis, J. M., Merwin, M. M., Osberg, T. M., Roehling, P. V., Young, P., & Kamas, M. M. (2006). Personality factors, money attitudes, financial knowledge, and credit-card debt in college students. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *36*, 1395-1413.
- Norvilitis, J. M., Merwin, M. M., Osberg, T. M., Roehling, P. V., Young, P., & Kamas, M. M. (2006). Personality factors, money attitudes, financial knowledge and credit card debt in college students. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *36*, 1395-1413. doi: 10.1111/j.0021-9029.2006.00065.x
- Nyamute, W, & Maina, JKM 2011, 'Effect of financial literacy on personal financial mangement practices: a case study of employees of finance and banking institututions', Available from:
- O'Neill, B., Sorhaindo, B., Xiao, J. J., & Garman, E. T. (2005a). Financially distressed consumers: Their financial practices, financial well-being, and health. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 16(1), 73-87
- OECD (2015), "Climate Finance in 2013-14 and the USD 100 billion Goal: A Report by the OECD in Collaboration with *Climate Policy Initiative*", OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264249424-en.
- Osman, Z., Madzlan, E. M., & Ing, P. In Pursuit of Financial Well-being: The Effects of Financial Literacy, Financial Behaviour and Financial Stress on Employees in Labuan.
- Othman, A. (2014). Essays on the co-operatives' performances in Malaysia/Azmah binti Othman (Doctoral dissertation, University of Malaya).
- Pallant, J. (2001). SPSS survival manual. A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS for windows. Buckingham, Open University Press.
- Pallant, J. (2013). SPSS Survival Manual. A step by step guide to data analysis using SPSS, 4th edition. *Allen & Unwin*,
- Parrotta, J. L., & Johnson, P. J. (1998). The impact of financial attitudes and knowledge on financial attitudes management and satisfaction of recently married individuals. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, *9*, 59–75.

- Perry, V. G., & Morris, M. D. (2005). Who is in control? The role of self-perception, knowledge, and income in explaining consumer financial behavior. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 39, 299-313.
- Pinquart, M., & Sorensen, S. (2001). Influences on loneliness in older adults: A metaanalysis. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 23, 245-266.
- Plagnol, A. C. (2011). Financial satisfaction over the life course: The influence of assets and liabilities. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 32(1), 45–64
- Ponnet, K. (2014). Financial Stress, Parent Functioning and Adolescent Problem Behavior: An Actor-Partner Interdependence Approach to Family Stress Processes in Low-, Middle-, and HighIncome Families. *Journal Of Youth And Adolescence*, 43(10), 17521769.
- Ponnet, K., & Wouters, E. (2014). Stress and mental health in families with different income levels: A strategy to collect multi-actor data. *JMIR Research Protocols*, 3(1), e1. doi:10.2196/resprot.2832.
- Porter, N. M. & Garman, E. T. (1993). Testing a conceptual model of financial well-being. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 4, 135-164.
- Porter, N. M., & Garman, E. T. (1993). Testing a conceptual model of financial wellbeing. *Financial Counseling & Planning*, 4, 135-165.
- Prawitz, A. D., Garman, E. T., Sorhaindo, B., O'Neill, B., Kim, J., & Drentea, P. (2006). The InCharge financial distress/financial well-being scale: Development, administration, and score interpretation. *Financial Counseling and Planning*, 17(1), 34-50.
- Prawitz, A. D., Kalkowski, J. C., & Cohart, J. (2013). Responses to economic pressure by low-income families: Financial distress and hopefulness. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 34(1), 29-40.
- Prescott, P. A., & Soeken, K. L. (1989). The potential uses of pilot work. Nursing Research, 38(1), 60.
- Rajola, F., Frigerio, C. & Parrichi, M. (2014). Financial well-being in active ageing. Health Technology and Informatics, 203, 69.
- Ramli, Z. (2011). The influence of knowledge factor, financial behavior and decision making on financial welfare of public sector employees married, *unpublished Thesis Doctor of Philosophy, University Putra Malaysia*.
- Ranjit Kumar. (2011). Research Methodology: A step-by step guide for beginners (3 rded). London: *SAGE publication Ltd*.
- Raymond, S. U. (2010). Nonprofit finance for hard times: Leadership strategies when economies falter. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. *Regional Family Economics and Resource*.

- Remund, D.L. (2010). Financial literacy explicated: the case for a clearer definition in an increasingly complex economy. *The Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 44(2), 276.
- Rice, A. and Tucker, S. (1986). Family life management (6th ed.). *New York: MacMillan*.
- Robb, C. A., & Woodyard, A. S. (2011). Financial knowledge and 'best practice' behavior. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 22(1), 36-46
- Sabri, M.F., MacDonald, M., Masud, Jariah, Paim, L. Hira, T.K., & Othman M.A. (2008). Financial behavior and problems among college students in Malaysia: Research and education implication. *Consumer Interests Annual*, 54.
- Sass, S. A., Belbase, A., Cooperrider, T., & Ramos-Mercado, J. D. (2015). What do subjective assessments of financial well-being reflect? *Journal of Personal Finance*, 14(2), 21-33.
- Saurabh, K., & Nandan, T. (2018). Role of financial risk attitude and financial behavior as mediators in financial satisfaction. South Asian Journal of Business Studies.
- Selenko, E. & Batinic, B. (2011). Beyond debt. A moderator analysis of the relationship between perceived financial strain and mental health. *Journal Social Science & Medicine*, 73, 1725-1732.
- Senduk, S. 2009. Managing Family Financial. Jakarta: PT Elex Media Komputindo Issues
- Senik, C. (2008). Ambition and jealousy: Income interactions in the 'Old' Europe versus the 'New' Europe and the United States. *Economica*, 75(299), 495-513.
- Shafi, M. (2014). Determinants influencing individual investor behavior in stock market: a cross country research survey. *Nigerian Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 62(1100), 1-12.
- Shaughnessy, J. J., Zechmeister, E. B. and Zexhmeister, J. (2009). Research method in psychology. (8th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill Higher Companies, Inc.
- Sheets, E. S., & Craighead, W. E. (2014). Comparing chronic interpersonal and noninterpersonal stress domains as predictors of depression recurrence in emerging adults. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 63, 36-42. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2014.09.001
- Shim, S, Xiao, JJ, Barber, BI, & Lyons, AC 2009, 'Pathways to life success: A conceptual model of financial well-being for young adults', *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology vol. 30, pp: 708-723*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2009.02.003.

- Shim, Soyeon, Jing Jian Xiao, Bonnie Barber, and Angela C. Lyons (2009), "Pathways to Life Success: A Model of Financial Well-being for Young Adults," *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 30 (6), 708-723.
- Sumarwan, U., & Hira, T. K. (1992). Credit, saving, and insurance practices influencing satisfaction with preparation of financial emergencies. *Family & Consumer Sciences Research Journal*, 21, 206-227.
- Szafran, R. F. (2011). Answering questions with statistics. Sage. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Szanton, Sarah L., Roland J. Thorpe, och Keith Whitfield. 2010."Life-course financial strain and health in African–Americans". *Social Science & Medicine* 71 (2): 259–265.
- Taft, M. K., Hosein, Z. Z., & Mehrizi, S. M. T. (2013). The relation between financial literacy, financial wellbeing and financial concerns. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8(11), 63.
- Taylor, J. B. (2009). The financial crisis and the policy responses: An empirical analysis of what went wrong (No. w14631). *National Bureau of Economic Research*.
- Taylor, R., Budescu, M., Gebre, A., & Hodzic, I. (2012). Family Financial Pressure and Maternal and Adolescent Socioemotional Adjustment: Moderating Effects of Kin Social Support in Low Income African American Families. *J Child Fam Stud*, 23(2), 242-254.
- Taylor, R., Budescu, M., Gebre, A., & Hodzic, I. (2014). Family financial pressure and maternal and adolescent socioemotional adjustment: Moderating effects of kin social support in low income African American families. *Journal of Child and Family*.
- Taylor, S. E., & Stanton, A. L. (2007). Coping resources, coping processes, and mental health. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, *3*, 377–401.
- Thode, H. C. Jr. (2002). Testing for Normality. *Marcel Dekker Inc*, New York.
- Tian, R., Batten, L. M. and Versteeg, S. C. 2008, Function length as a tool for malware classification, in Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Malicious and Unwanted Software: *MALWARE*
- Titus, P. M., Fanslow, A. M., & Hira, T. K. (1989). Networth and financial satisfaction as a function of household money manager's competencies. *Home Economics Research Journal*, 17(6), 309-317. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1077727X8901700404.
- Trochim, W.M.K. (2006). Research methods knowledge base. Retrieved on January 25, 2010 from http://www.socialresearchmethods.net

- Tseng. 2010. Handbook of Research in Mass Customization and Personalization, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Singapore.
- Van Horne and Wachowicz (2008). Fundamentals of Financial Management, 13th edition, Instructor's Manual Pearson Education Limited 2008.
- Van Praag, B. M. and A. Ferrer-i-Carbonell (2007). Happiness Quantified: A Satisfaction Coach Approach: A Satisfaction Calculus Approach. *OUP Oxford*.
- Van Praag, B.M.S., Frijters, P., Ferrer-i-Carbonell, A., 2003. The anatomy of subjective well-being. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 51, 29 49.
- Van Rooij, M., C. Kool, and H. Prast, 2007, Risk-return preferences in the pension domain: Are people able to choose?, *Journal of Public Economics*, 91, 701-722.
- Van Rooij, Maarten, Annamaria Lusardi, and Rob Alessie. (2011). "Financial Literacy and Stock Market Participation." *Journal of Financial Economics forthcoming.*
- Vaske, J. J. (2008). Survey research and analysis: Applications in parks, recreation and human dimensions. *State College, PA: Venture*.
- Vinokur, A. D., Price, R. H., & Caplan, R. D. (1996). Hard times and hurtful partners: How financial strain affects depression and relationship satisfaction of unemployed persons and their spouses. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 71(1), 166-179. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.71.1.166
- Vitt, L.A., Anderson, C., Kent, J., Lyter, D.M., Siegenthaler, J.K., & Ward, J. (2000). Personal finance and the rush to competence: Personal financial literacy in the U.S. The Fannie Mae Foundation. Well-Being Scale. Proceedings of the Eastern
- Walson, C. O. & Fitzsimmons, V. S. (1993). Financial managers' perception of rural household economic wellbeing: Development and testing of a composite measure. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 14, 193-214.
- Walt Kinoti Jason 2012 Industrialization Stresses alcohol abuse substance dependance differential gender effects in a Kenyan.
- Watson, S., Barber, B., &Dziurawiec, S. (2014). The Role of Economizing and Financial Strain in Australian University Students" Psychological Well-Being. *Journal Of Family And Economic*.
- Wei, H., & Chen, J. (2013). The Relationships between Families Financial Stress, Mental Health Problems, Child Rearing Practice, and School Involvement among Taiwanese Parents with School-Aged Children. *J Child Fam Stud*, 23(7), 1145-1154.

- Weiss, I., Banilower, E. R., McMahon, K. C., & Smith, P. S. (2001). Report of the 2000 survey of science and mathematics education. Chapel Hill, NC: *Horizon Research.within the household*: A new survey. *Fiscal Studies*, 30(4), 461-481.
- Western, M., & Tomaszewski, W. (2016). Subjective wellbeing, objective wellbeing and inequality in Australia. *PloS one*, 11(10).
- Wickrama, K. A., Surjadi, F. F., Lorenz, F. O., Conger, R. D., & O'Neal, C. W. (2012).
- Wilhelm, M. S., Varcoe, K., & Fridrich, A. H. (1993). Financial satisfaction and assessment of financial progress: *Importance of money attitudes. Financial Counseling and Planning*, 4, 181–199.
- Williams, D. R., & Sternthal, M. J. (2007). Spirituality, religion and health: evidence and research directions. *Medical journal of Australia*, 186(10), S47.
- Wrosch, C., Heckhausen, J., & Lachman, M. E. (2000). Primary and secondary control strategies for managing health and financial stress across adulthood. *Psychology and Aging*, 15(3), 387-399. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.15.3.387 www.allenandunwin.com/spss.
- Xiao, J. J., Sorhaindo, B., & Garman, E. T. (2006). Financial behavior of consumers in credit counseling. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 30(2), 108–121.
- Yin, T. S., Othman, A. R., & Yaacob, C. R. (2011). Sensitivity of normality tests to non-normal data. *Sains Malaysiana*, 40(6), 637-641.
- Yong, H. N. A., & Tan, K. L. (2017). THE INFLUENCE OF FINANCIAL LITERACY TOWARDS RISK TOLERANCE. International Journal of Business & Society, 18(3).
- Zaimah, R, Sarmila, MS, Lyndon, N, Azima, AM, Selvadurai, S, Suhana, S, & Er, AC 2013, 'Financial behaviours of female teachers in Malaysia', *Asian Social Science*, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 34-41.
- Zechmeister, Jeanne S.; Zechmeister, Eugene B.; Shaughnessy, John J. (2009). Essentials of Research Methods in Psychology. *Tata McGraw-Hill*.
- Zikmund, W. (2003). Business research methods. Fort Worth: *Harcourt College Publishers*.
- Zutter, L. J. (2012). Principles of Managerial Finance. USA: Prentice Hall.

# **BIODATA OF STUDENT**

Ogunleye Kemisola Christianah was born on the 10<sup>th</sup> of September 1984 in Akure, Ondo State Nigeria. She obtained her secondary school education at the St Helens Unity Secondary School Ondo in Ondo State. There after she sat for the West Africa Secondary School Certificate Examination (WASSCE) in Ayede Ogbese Comprehensive High School. After which she proceeded to the Polytechnic Ibadan to obtain her National Diploma Certificate, after that she proceeded to Lagos State University where she bagged her bachelor's in Accounting. Presently pursuing a Master of Science in Human Ecology, Ogunleye Kemisola Christianah is very passionate about her education and life.



### LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Kemisola-Christianah, Ogunleye, Mohamad Fazli Sabri, Shamsul Azahari Zainal Badari. "Financial Well-Being of Nigerian Family in Ikeja Lagos State Nigeria." Shanlax *International Journal of Management*, vol. 7, no. 1, 2019, pp. 1-8.

Ogunleye Kemisola-Christianah, Mohamad Fazli Sabri, Shamsul Azahari Zainal Badari, *Oladipo Kolapo sakiru*. FACTORS INFLUENCING FINANCIAL WELL-BEING AMONG EMPLOYEES IN AN ORGANIZATION IN NIGERIA: *Jurnal Pengguna Malaysa* (Malaysian Consumer Journal). (submitted)



#### **UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA**

## STATUS CONFIRMATION FOR THESIS / PROJECT REPORT AND COPYRIGHT

ACADEMIC SESSION: Second Semester 2019/2020

#### TITLE OF THESIS / PROJECT REPORT:

DETERMINANT OF FINANCIAL WELLBEING AMONG EMPLOYEES IN IKEJA LOCAL GOVERNMENT IN LAGOS STATE NIGERIA

## NAME OF STUDENT: OGUNLEYE KEMISOLA CHRISTIANAH

I acknowledge that the copyright and other intellectual property in the thesis/project report belonged to Universiti Putra Malaysia and I agree to allow this thesis/project report to be placed at the library under the following terms:

- 1. This thesis/project report is the property of Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- 2. The library of Universiti Putra Malaysia has the right to make copies for educational purposes only.
- 3. The library of Universiti Putra Malaysia is allowed to make copies of this thesis for academic exchange.

I declare that this thesis is classified as:

*Please tick (V)	
CONFIDENTIAL	(Contain confidential information under Official Secret Act 1972).
RESTRICTED	(Contains restricted information as specified by the organization/institution where research was done).
OPEN ACCESS	I agree that my thesis/project report to be published as hard copy or online open access.
This thesis is submitted for :	
PATENT	Embargo from until (date)
	Approved by:
(Signature of Student) New IC No/ Passport No.:	(Signature of Chairman of Supervisory Committee) Name:
Date :	Date :

[Note: If the thesis is CONFIDENTIAL or RESTRICTED, please attach with the letter from the organization/institution with period and reasons for confidentially or restricted.]